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Dedication 

This plan is dedicated to the memory of Anne Storey, who for many years was 

both a Councillor and an advocate for looking after our environment and 

nature in the village of Four Marks. 
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Introduction 

Each village is recommended by Government committees and by the Rural Affairs 

Department to prepare a Community Plan based on the views of all local residents. 

As a result a number of volunteers from the community produced a questionnaire to 

discover the views of the whole village of Four Marks.  This community plan has 

been written and published based upon those results both in hard copy and in 

electronic format. 

 

The questionnaire was posted out in March 2010 and sent to every household in the 

village.  The document contained sufficient room for each family member to answer 

each question and an additional set of questions was provided for residents aged 

between 10 to 21 years of age. 

 

1522 questionnaires were sent by post to the village households and by September 

2010, 586 were returned giving a response rate of 39%, which the committee feel is 

an excellent result for a large village community.  Furthermore 1132 individuals took 

the time to complete the relevant sections within the questionnaires providing a 

considerable cross section of views which would be reflected in the community plan.  

 

The data capture of the returned forms was then processed by East Hampshire 

District Council, who on behalf of the village captured the relevant information. This 

was then put into a draft analysis report from which a final Community Plan could be 

drafted. 

 

 

The Community Plan is designed to make the local area a better place to live and 

will involve residents engaging with other agencies and organisations in order to 

achieve this. It is not only the responsibility of the Parish Council but that of the 

individual through proper consultation to reflect those views and it is through this 

document it is hoped that this may be achieved.  The community is constantly 

evolving and therefore regular reviews will be undertaken to update the plan. 
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Executive Summary of the Questionnaires 

 

53% of the respondents were female  

40% of the respondents were aged over 60 years 

62% use local newspapers and other publications to find out what is happening in 

the village 

73% would have found a welcome pack useful when they moved into the village 

77% have not used the village website 

70% would use a dentist in the village 

27% said they use the bus occasionally 

26% stated they had difficulties using public transport to and from Four Marks 

47% stated they use a bicycle for leisure 

50% plus think there are major danger spots on the roads in the village 

56% said the road surfaces in the village need improvement 

26% moved to the village for a particular dwelling 

90% plus of all homes are owner occupied 

56 % of all respondents said that no additional housing is needed in the village 

87% said they have relevant onsite parking 

72% said there is adequate public green space where they live 

64% do not attend a place of worship or faith groups within the village 

96% consider that Four Marks is a very / fairly safe place to live in during the daytime 

90% consider that Four Marks is a very / fairly safe place to live after dark 

91% feel safe or fairly safe walking on the roads / lanes of the village in daylight 
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67% feel safe or fairly safe walking on the roads / lanes of the village after dark 

61% state they would support a neighbourhood watch scheme if there was one 

81% stated that they had heard of street watch 

70% plus would like to see a greater police presence in the village 

10% have been a victim of crime in the last two years 

62% would like to see more village community projects 

57% said they do attend village events 

90% think the people of Four Marks are friendly 

90% plus use the food shops in the village  

88% use the village chemist 

34% would like a country / family run pub with meeting rooms 

29% would like a swimming pool 

70% think the village has sufficient public open space 

44% think the village needs bridleways 

55% think the village needs more wildlife corridors 

52% think ressidents need to find out more about environmental issues 

54% think that the village could improve its carbon footprint 

50% of the respondents are employed or self-employed 

31% of the respondents are retired 
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A brief history of Four Marks 

According to Bartholomewôs Gazetteer the village of Four Marks is the only one 
named as such in the UK. First mentioned in a document circa 1550 albeit spelt 
differently Four Marks was referred to as ñFowremôkes and derives its name from ña 
vacant piece of landò on the Manor of Alresford adjoining the tithingôs of Medstead, 
Ropley, Farringdon and Chawton. 

Four Marks was created in 1932 from parts of the six parishes of Medstead, Ropley, 
Chawton, East Tisted, Newton Vallence and Farringdon. It covers 1,499 acres and is 
one of the smallest parishes in East Hampshire. Due to excessive building in the 
recent past it is also one of the most densely populated. Its boundary to the north is 
the Watercress Railway line and as part of the central down land it is also the highest 
settlement in the district with views stretching to Hindhead, Winchester and Butser. 
The name appears on Ordnance Survey maps of 1897.  

In bygone days: 

Discoveries of a flint axe head and flint arrow head show signs of Stone Age activity 
in the area. A pure gold armillary and a bowl barrow construction outside of the 
settlement have been found. These indicate a Bronze Age settlement just outside 
the Parish. A Celtic track way passed through the village and evidence of Celtic 
farming has been found at Headmore Lane. The Pilgrimôs Way, from Winchester to 
Canterbury, passes through the village, along Brislands Lane and Blackberry Lane. 
In the past few years the St Swithunôs Way has been inaugurated through the 
southern part of the village to the east. This goes from Winchester to Farnham.  

Because of its elevated height, Four Marks was chosen by the Admiralty as the 
location for one of its chain of Semaphore Stations on the uncompleted second line 
to Plymouth. This was important as a method of communication between the 
Admiralty in London and the ships at Portsmouth and Plymouth during and after the 
Napoleonic Wars. Four Marks was also chosen by the Ordnance Survey as a site for 
a triangulation point at Telegraph Lane. At 220metres above sea level, Four Marks 
took part in a chain of beacons to commemorate the anniversary of the Armada and 
HM the Queenôs Silver Jubilee in 1977 and her Diamond Jubilee in 2012. 

The former London and Southampton Railway was a very busy line with passengers 
and freight. The line was opened in1868 and the local station was named óMedsteadô 
and was closed in 1973. The line had previously been used during the war to 
transport soldiers from Winchester to Waterloo. Travelling from Ropley to Alton, 
using the line became known as óGoing over the Alpsô, due to its steep gradient. This 
stretch of line is still used today to test the abilities of new locomotives. During the 
Second World War American troops passing through, were popular with local 
children for the sweets and gum thrown from the carriages. When the Heritage Line 
opened in 1983, the station name was changed to óMedstead & Four Marksô and the 
railway is now known as the Watercress Line. The line now only runs from Alresford 
to Alton as a popular tourist attraction. 
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A steam locomotive entering Medstead and Four Marks Station 

Another major community activity happened in 1970 when local people formed a 
society to reclaim Swelling Hill Pond, which has been in existence since at least the 
mid-19th Century and had become silted up. The restored pond occupies a secluded 
spot on high ground and provides a tranquil habitat for its abundant wildlife, walkers 
and the Angling Society. Unfortunately the pond is again suffering from silting and 
needs more restoration. 

 

Swelling Hill Pond 
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Present Day: 

Four Marks retains much of its leafy character and agriculture continues in both the 
central area and the southern fringes of the parish. The small hedged enclosures, 
which are typical of the area form an important wild life habitat, deer, badgers, 
dormice and foxes are to be found, with a very wide variety of birds and flora.  

Three churches are present in the village, The Church of the Good Shepherd, 
Lymington Bottom, The Gospel Hall in Winchester Road and The Jubilee Church 
which meets normally at the primary school. All have increasing memberships and 
are an important part of community life.  

The Village Hall is very busy with many social clubs and associated bookings. It is a 
great asset to the village, having started out as the Institute in 1913. Over the years it 
has grown and now has three rooms for hire and good parking, but could do with 
modernisation.  

 

 

Sports are played at the Recreation Ground, Uplands Lane, including football, 
cricket, archery, bowls and tennis, with a nine hole golf course situated in Headmore 
Lane. The Scout and Guide Hut is also located on the recreation ground.  In 2000 
the Bernard Benianô Millennium Pavilion was opened, provided by the Parish 
Council.  There is also a new childrenôs playground, a BMX track with aerial runway 
and a burial ground.  Shoppers are catered for locally, mainly along the A31, which 
divides the village.  The shops are mainly small but include a petrol station with 
shop, a small Supermarket, Pharmacy, Bakery, Off Licence, Cycle shop and a Tool 
Hire company.  There is also an Indian Restaurant and take away, Chinese take 
away, Fish & Chip shop, Barbers and Hair Stylists, Florists, Opticianôs and close by a 
Public house.  In the nearby area of Lymington Bottom Road there are a Butchers, a 
Greengrocer, a Coffee shop, a Saddler and Equine supplier, Computer shops, a 
Building and Garden supplier, and Garden equipment engineers. 

The village also has some small industrial units located in Willis Lane, providing a 

variety of services, including car repairs, servicing and MOT testing. There is also a 

garden centre and garden nursery within the village. Four Marks has a multi-award 

winning micro-brewery in Station Approach. There are numerous small industrial 

units located within the Parish. 
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The above map shows the use of the land in the Parish of Four Marks in 1999 
and can be compared with an aerial photograph on page 10 
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Copyright and supplied by courtesy of EHDC 

 

An aerial view of the Parish of Four Marks showing the neighbouring 

boundaries with the parishes of Medstead, Chawton, Farringdon,             

Newton Valance, East Tisted, and Ropley, 

 

 

 

 


